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By

FerRell Johnson
Last Lunch

Pavica started her day with her same morning routines, except she wasn’t going to her office. The staff thought it odd. She was a creature of habit. She still took her walk and did her exercise. But, today she dusted, cleaned, and threw away old or undesirable foods from the refrigerator. She called her accountant, and her lawyer. She transferred money to her cousin’s account and made another transfer as well. Her books were in order, and notes had been sent. She read the paper and screened her calls. Her fear was to be asked to do something that she knew she might not be able to fulfill. Many things could have simply been done by her lawyer. But, she wanted to feel the magnitude of the situation. Since he would never get around to it, and as a gesture of love, she went to the Department of Motor Vehicles and transferred the Jaguar into her uncle’s name. Pavica also picked up her cousin and took her to lunch. This wasn’t unusual. But, this time was different. It was important. She had bought Ann Falls a new Mercedes Benz. It was a gift. She would surprise her when they left the restaurant and drive back to Westchester, get out, and give her the keys. When Ann came out, you could see her wishful thoughts.


“I don’t know why you got this car. It’s not even your style. And, it’s black,” Ann insisted. “What’s the model number?”


“I tried to think like you. So, I got an E Class two door model,” Pavica said. 

Pavica was talkative and Ann enjoyed the conversation. The talk over lunch was their usual ‘who was doing what’ between their friends and within the family. Ann had always allowed Pavica to steer the conversation. But, she took a risk.

“Pavica, tell me what happened when you left for Europe.”  Pavica stared in silence. Ann felt guilty. “I have never questioned your judgment.” Pavica smiled and twisted her head like a curious dog. 


“Well,” she started. “Where do I start?” She thought for a minute, and began again. “My partner and I had a disagreement that I was sure would not be resolved.” Pavica was satisfied with her answer, and took a bite of her salad. It had just arrived. Ann sat for a moment waiting for more information.


She asked, “Is the father American or European?” Pavica wiped her mouth.


“American,” she responded. Ann fidgeted. This meant that her partner was probably the father. 


“Do I know him?” Pavica continued to eat.

She chewed and answered, “Right now, a lot of people know him.” 

“I wouldn’t have a clue. You haven’t been seen with someone romantically.” Pavica smiled.

“In years,” she finished her sentence.

“Okay,” Ann relented. “Who is it?”

“Frank Rockwell,” she answered. Ann’s eyebrows lurched.


 Ann blared, “The travel machine guy?” Pavica nodded. 

“It’s called a Transfer Machine.”

Ann pursed her lips and added, “Okay, but I would not have guessed that one.” 

The waitress walked up and asked, “Can I get you anything else?” Ann shook her head.

“No thank you,” Pavica said. Ann dipped her spoon into the cooled soup bowl she’d ordered. She was thinking. Pavica watched Ann.

As she reviewed the check, she asked Ann, “Anything else?”

“That rascal,” Ann responded. “I have to think about it. I’ll let you know next time we go out.”

“No,” Pavica said with a laugh. “After today, I won’t answer any questions.” Ann tried not to look offended. Lately, they spent a lot of time going on errands and having lunch when Pavica was in town. It would be hard to not ask questions about Frank and their relationship now that the cat was out of the bag.

In their silence, Ann responded, “I probably know enough. I’ll be speechless for a while.”

“Thirty plus years ago, he was an amazing man.” Pavica said as she handed the check and her Visa card to the waitress. Pavica spotted a clock, and realized that she was behind schedule. In her observations regarding someone’s final hour, if a person didn’t die in the first ten minutes, the odds were that they would die in the last fifteen minutes. Pavica paid the bill and handed Ann an envelope. “Open it tomorrow, okay?” Ann agreed without concern. The two headed out to the Mercedes. She decided she would take a cab after revealing that she had bought the car for her. Ann got in on the passenger side and Pavica sat in the driver’s seat. She started the car and they closed the doors when two black men approached.

One approached with a gun on the driver’s side, the other stood outside Ann’s door. “Get out of the car,” the gunman demanded as he tapped on the window. Ann reached for the handle.

Pavica demanded, “No Ann!” The man pointed his gun at Pavica. 

“Look get out before they catch us both and you get deported back to where you came from,” he insulted.

She shook her head. “I come from the same place as you, fool.” Now he was angry. She glanced in her mirror before she slipped the car into reverse. He tapped on the window again and yelled, “Don’t do it! Stop the car bitch!” He fired his gun as she floored the car. She slammed into the car on the other side of the lot. The two men took off running in the opposite direction.

Ann screamed, “There is blood coming out of your leg. You’ve been hit!” Pavica looked at the time on the clock. ‘Not much time,’ she mumbled. 

“Ann, get out now,” Pavica insisted. Ann sat for a second too long. “You cannot go with me. Get out.” She did as directed and got out. Pavica took off after the men as a bumper from the offended car fell to the ground. Tires screeched in the street. The two men got into a car and it sped off. They had not expected to shatter the driver’s window, or to injure the driver with a bullet. They had a good head start when Pavica made chase. She floored the car through two red lights. She felt the warm air as shattered glass continued to crumble from the window. And, there was blood on the seat, and the bumper had been challenged. 

She dialed her phone. “Thomas in sales, please.” The man on the phone said he would page Thomas. “Tell him this is an emergency,” she insisted. She made a quick right and then a left as car horns blared. Thomas came on as Pavica made a turn that barely missed a pole. “Thomas, I need another car, the exact same car. But, you have to deliver it tomorrow morning. Run it through Martin Aherns again. Tell him I ruined the other car.” Thomas laughed in disbelief. She gave him the address. “I need you to leave a note for Ann Falls.” She finished the call and glanced at the time. She decided to do something that she had never done she called Elizabeth as she floored the gas on a straight away.  The phone was answered on the third ring. “Elizabeth, this is your Auntie Pavica. I have stranded your mother at The Pacific Dining Car near your office. It might be best that you pick her up. I can’t talk. I love you,” Pavica hung up. Now she was into that critical time period and called the police.

“Yes, this is Pavica Coldiron. I am calling to report a failed car jacking.” The woman asked for clarity. “They tried to steal my car, and I’ve been shot in the leg. Now, I am chasing them.” After Pavica gave the woman the license plate number, the woman advised against following the suspects. She tried to convince Pavica that they had what they needed to eventually find the culprits. “No, I want them caught now,” she insisted. She gave the police woman the cross streets of their current location and hung up. 

In hot pursuit, Pavica caught a glance at her blood stained kaki pants, with her left thigh trickling out new blood. As the chase continued, she found herself more cautious. Her vision was changing and her mind became cloudy. She recognized the mild panic attack. She tried to refocus her attention. She snuck a peak at the sky. ‘It’s a beautiful day. The sky is blue, and the clouds are white,’ she thought. Then she concentrated on her driving and mumbled, “To die is gain as sweet Heaven awaits. And, any, every, and all concern or pain will be no more.” Pavica smiled and pushed the gas pedal to the floor. She closed the distance to twenty feet. A sharp turn by the other car caused a vehicle to crash onto the sidewalk. Pavica slowed and maneuvered wide. As she closed the gap again, the man that had fired a shot into her leg leaned out his window with his gun pointed back. Pavica jammed the gas and rammed into the back of their car. Both vehicles nearly lost control and once again the Toyota had a good lead. The police had to be close if they used her phone as a tracking device. She wasn’t sure. 

The street had narrowed but the culprit’s Toyota Four Runner gained speed to pass a truck going 45 miles an hour. With traffic thickening, they passed on the right side of the flatbed truck with long six foot tall cement pipes. No cars were parked in the meter parking spots. The driver of the truck swerved away in defense. The load shifted and tipped to the side. The sparkling Mercedes briefly hit 70 miles an hour. The gap had quickly closed. However, Pavica wasn’t close enough. The flat bed truck whined with a high pitch as it never regained its balance. The straps snapped. Pavica was sure she’d cleared the trouble. It was better for her that way.  

Chapter 2

30 years before the accident
His side

Pavica pushed the button and the machine lit up. The mechanism searched for a code, volume, an action to take. We turned the machine off and went out for a celebration. We were elated! We hadn’t invented all that the machine was looking for. No one could go anywhere. We were inventing the buggy before the horse. We knew it was a matter of time before we put it all together. This moment was a sweet and memorable one. It was nice to see my future bride so happy. She was such a brilliant and beautiful person. I was the luckiest man on the planet. But, I had a fear. Pavica planted the seed and I couldn’t let go. After we left the attorney’s office, having signed the papers for our new corporation, she said, “Are you sure you can move atoms?” She didn’t say ‘we’, she asked if I could do my part. I was determined from that point on. That night we went out to celebrate and we laughed, and we laughed some more. Pavica is not a drinker. So, after her three beers, she was tipsy.

Her friend Shawn and his girl were supposed to meet us at the restaurant. They didn’t show up. But called, and asked if they could come by our place. I said no. Pavica told them to come on bye. It ended up that I entertained them while Pavica slept. 
We talked about the new company and our plans to make the invention of a lifetime.  

With doubt, he asked me, “How will you design a machine that will transfer a person from one spot to another place, state or country?”

“I have a few different ways I think might work,” I pitched. “However, to weed through the worthless formulas will take so much time. My hope is to find a solution early on because even then, the work will have just begun.” For a long three seconds, he looked into my eyes. It was obvious he would never have put his money on me. His girlfriend spoke up.

“Shawn’s not a reader,” she stated. “But, I am.” She stuck out her hand. “My name is Rachel.” I reached across Shawn and politely squeezed her hand. “I know that you are on fire in the world of science.” Her blue eyed gaze was intense. I stood up.

“Let me get you guys a drink,” I insisted. “We have Miller Lite, Budweiser, Perrier,” I looked in the door. “Or we have wine.” They discussed my choices and gave me their order. I returned with a Budweiser for me and Shawn, and, a bottle of Perrier for Rachel. 

After a few sips, swigs, and gulps, Rachel continued, “As I was saying, Pavica’s a lucky woman.” I didn’t see the point in her words. “I read an article about you. I didn’t know it was you until Shawn,” -she touched her boyfriend’s arm- “told me that you were Alexander Rockwell, an inventor scientist.” I smiled. “How neat it must be to be one of the world’s top scientists and only 30 years old. You have licensing agreements with the likes of GE and several power companies.” 
“I have a lot to accomplish,” I looked at her and then him. I had no interest in sitting around talking about how great I was. “My brain is on fire all the time. But, my focus is on the machine.” Then she looked at me again. “Pavica is fortunate to have you.” I decided to turn the table.

“I’m the lucky one. Pavi has eight patents that she gets royalties on,” I insisted, setting my beer on the table. “As for wealth and income, she has six times the amount that I have amassed.” I continued. “She is amazing with numbers. And, she is only 24.” The woman’s eyebrows went up in disbelief. I stood up again ready to be done for the evening. “In fact let me check on her. She promised to lie down just for a minute.”

I opened the bedroom door. Pavica lay sleeping, still dressed from their evening out. She was curled up tight on top of the covers. “Just as I thought, not five minutes and she’s in a deep sleep.” The two giggled. “I guess she had just a little too much fun. We celebrated overcoming our first hurdle in creating a machine that could easily replace air travel.” Rachel leaned in and pointed. 


“Look, she’s dreaming,” she said with fascination.


“She dreams all the time,” I whispered. “I literally get kicked out of bed sometimes.” I moved them back as I closed the door with, “Lately, her dreams have been really intense.” We headed back to the living room.
He said, “Where did you get the new idea from?”


“The transfer machine is Pavi’s idea,” I said. 

Shawn asked, “You said it’s a machine that could replace air travel?” 

I answered, “Yes, it will. But, we have to invent it first.” 
Curious and doubtful, Shawn asked, “How would that be possible?” 

“Well, several people have found the ability to move an atom,” I informed. “I am working on a technique where I will move or transfer groups of more than several billions of atoms to somewhere else. That is the equivalent amount that makes up a person.” They didn’t respond. “I am so close.” 

“Wow, that’s a bit much for me. I have trouble moving my body in the morning,” Shawn admitted. We laughed. “Are there a lot of scientists trying to do the same thing?” 

“A lot no, but there are many,” I blared. “But their approach is wrong. That’s why their progress is so slow.” Shawn snickered.

“Like I said, you lost me.” I slid to the edge of my seat, took a drink and slowly set the bottle on the table. 
“You see,” I started explaining. “Most scientists want to draw atoms away, from one place to another. The best way to describe it would be like magnetically.” I looked toward the bedroom, hoping Pavica would come out and explain it in simple language. “Pavica implanted in my mind to relocate those atoms by code.” Shawn had a blank look. “Your location can be written as a code. And, that’s where anyone can find you right now. If I can put your personal code, your entire atom code, at another location then you transfer.”

Shawn assessed, “Wouldn’t that be a huge sequence of numbers?”

“Yes, but there would be common numbers within a family and then unique numbers that identify one person,” I concluded. Now they were silent.
Rachel pitched bright and cheery, “So, how long have the two of you been together?” I smiled, glad she changed the conversation.
“I met Pavica seventeen months ago at the Louvre,” I said. I didn’t want to continue in the other conversation either. “I was vacationing in Paris with a woman.” 

“Who made the first move?” Rachel asked.

“I did,” I assured. “Pavica is not the type to hunt men. She would consider that a waste of time.” 
Shawn asked, “Did you walk up and introduce yourself? Or, did you bump into her or something?”

I shook my head. “I guess you could say that I walked up and introduced myself. You see, I watched her at first.” 
Rachel asked, “Didn’t the other woman notice?”
“No, she was too busy being miserable,” I responded. “When Pavica approached a Eugene Delacroix painting, I recognized something about her. It was the way she approached the art. I think it was his ‘Liberty Leading the People.’ The woman I was with mentioned about being thirsty. And, I told her where she could get a drink and that I would wait for her. She agreed.” Rachel nodded. “So, I walked up to Pavica and said, ‘Do all the work you can; that is the whole philosophy of the good way of life.’ She looked at me and said, “For a man that painted around 9021 works in his lifetime, I think he did good to coin that phrase.” Then she walked away. So, I followed her.” Rachel’s eyebrows went up. “I was sure that this was her first trip into the Louvre. So, I said, let me show you his most sincere painting, in my opinion. She slow blinked me and I pointed to the next room. I told her it was called ‘The Death of Sardanapalus’. She cautiously followed me to the painting.”
“Weren’t you concerned about the other woman that you were with?”

“Not at all,” I told her. 
“So, what did you do?”
 “After we marveled at Delacroix’s work, I bet her that I could answer any three questions that she might have about the museum,” I explained.

“Did she agree?”

“She did.” Rachel frowned. “People that stay awake at night trying to solve even the simplest of problems love to be challenged. She is one of those types,” I explained.
Shawn asked, “So, what was the first question?”

“How many visitors came to the Louvre the previous year,” I said. The 22 year old blonde laughed. “I told her 9.3 million people. She made a sad face and told me there were 6,503,077 visitors.”
She whispered, “Oh no, you were already wrong.” 

I shook my head. “I told her that my answer was both local and tourists.” 
Rachel smiled and said, “That was sly.” 

“Pavica lifted her hands in unconcern and we went on to the second question.” I took a sip of my beer as Rachel and Shawn waited anxiously. “She asked me how many French paintings were in the Louvre. Well, I told her that since her last question was a setup that my answer this time had three answers. 174 had a home at the Louvre. Or, if we counted only the currently displayed paintings there were 171 as three were on loan. And, 169 if we didn’t count the two set aside for repair.” Rachel giggled like a drunk. “Pavica just laughed. She said I had one more question. She asked when artists were allowed to use the Louvre as a residency. She knew this one was easy. I answered 1682 when Louis XIV left.”
“What happened?”

“She claimed she won because of the first question,” I said. “So, I told her that I conceded. And, that I expected her to be on time for me to pay for lunch same time tomorrow.”

Rachel asked, “What did she say?” 

“I think she was ready to be done with me. She said that she didn’t know me. And, besides, I had come with someone else.”

“Ooooohh,” Shawn sympathized.

“I asked her, how long does it take to realize you’ve made a mistake? I pointed in the direction I’d come from and said that woman is not my wife and I’m not in love.” Rachel nodded. “Then I told her that I didn’t know her. But, I recognize people that love numbers. The first clue that she gave me was Eugene Delacroix. I told her that his work is magical, and numerologists know it. I pointed to the picture I’d brought her to and said that the picture had three sets of the number 213. One is diagonal across the center from right to left. At that point, I began to walk away. I turned and said, I hope to see you tomorrow.”

Shawn asked, “Did she show up?”
“I waited an hour. I looked around and spotted an attendant that was there the previous day. I didn’t even know what to say. I felt stupid. I told him that there was a woman there the previous day that I was to meet. He asked me if I was Frank Rockwell.”

Rachel blurted, “What? How did he know your name? You hadn’t introduced yourself to her or anyone else, had you?” I shook my head. “Wow, she’s good.” I smiled.

“So, I told him I was, and he gave me a card. I opened it, and the note asked to meet the next day at 1:15. It was a fabulous lunch, and here we are.” After about an hour, the guests stood up to leave. I took them back one more time to check on Pavica. I opened the bedroom door.


Rachel commented, “I hope whatever she was dreaming about before was pleasant.” I watched to see if Pavica would move. She didn’t.


I whispered, “Pavi, are you awake?” There was no response and I pulled the door almost closed, and walked the guests to the door. 


“Thanks for coming over,” I addressed from the door. “We will have to get together another time when,” -I paused a moment then gave up- “when Pavi is awake.” They waved and all goodbyes were complete. I closed the door. A second later, there was a light tap on the door. It was Rachel.

“I forgot my sweater,” she said sliding past me. On her way back to the door, she stopped and then started again. I touched her arm.


I asked, “What is it?” She leaned over, and whispered in my ear as she pushed a business card into my hand. “Absolutely, I’ll give you a call.” With that she hugged me, kissed my cheek and hurried out. I closed the door and turned to find Pavica standing at my feet. “Pavi? What’s wrong?” 
Chapter 3

Her side

“I changed my mind.” Frank looked puzzled. “I don’t want to build the transfer machine.” She didn’t give him a chance to react. She took a step into his face. “You and I can make something else, something better.” 

He struggled for words. “Why? We’ve given up so much, believing we would create this wonderful thing.” She could not look him in the eyes. “It’s the dreams, isn’t it?”


“This invention,” she started then changed her mind “This idea has caused too much violence for me. I can’t sleep.” He chuckled. 


“You are kidding right?” She looked away and shook her head. He continued, “We started a company just for this invention.” He was angry. “We celebrate the first breakthrough, you nap, wake-up and just like that you’re through?”


She tried not to get emotional as she informed, “For the last week, I have had nightmares every night. If I had known in the beginning that this thing would cause me all of the terror that I have gone through, trust me, I never would have started.”


“You’re serious,” he said. “You’re ready to quit?”


“Tell me Frank, have you ever been hunted down and nearly killed in a dream?” He said nothing. “No, no the worst thing that you ever experienced is maybe the family dog stole your teddy-bear. It’s a vicious nightmare when demons and monsters chase you in your sleep and poison you.”


He could think of nothing to say. “But, you survived,” he assured. She shook her head.


“No, I didn’t really,” she insisted. “I was rescued.” Frank wasn’t interested. “But Frank, what if this is bad for people?” Frank laughed.


“How can it be bad?” He answered. “Who wouldn’t love to go anywhere at anytime and get there in seconds?” Previca shook her head.


“No, that’s not what I asked you,” she insisted. “What if it’s not healthy? What if people suffer a loss but don’t know it?”


“No, the same person that leaves here” -he pointed one way and then the other- “shows up over here.” Previca paced for a second. “You are not a child,” Frank reasoned. “You survived the dreams!” Pavica walked into Frank’s face.


“I survived the dreams because I pleaded for my life,” she said. Frank giggled.


“Let me guess. The monsters made a deal with you?” Pavica laughed as Frank frowned. 


“No, that would be absurd,” she responded. “Monsters don’t make deals.” There was a silence. He knew something more was coming. “An angel showed up and everything changed.” He said nothing. So, Pavica took a different direction.


She said, “Your brother, Thomas and his wife looked unbelievable together.” Frank’s jaw muscles tightened. “We didn’t think that heaven could make a more beautiful couple.” She paused and then her voice rose, an octave. “We didn’t know that he was beating the hell out of her until she filed for divorce and got a restraining order against him.” Frank paced as though searching for weak planks in the wood floor. Pravica dropped her voice to nearly a whisper. “It looked great from the outside. But, at the heart of it all, the relationship was worthless, no matter how awesome it looked Frank.” Now, they both looked at each other in silence. “I believe there is a problem.” She paused as her eyes bore a hole through Frank. “Please change your mind.” He shook his head.


He nearly screamed, “Pavica, It was a dream.” 

“Can’t we just switch to something else?” Frank walked over picked up his beer and took a drink.


“We could,” he said sharply. “But, I don’t want to. This thing is too big to just throw away.” She began to sob. 


“Please,” she begged.


“I can’t do it. It could easily be the greatest invention of our lifetime,” he said. Both were silent for a time. 

Finally, she wiped her face, and tried again, “Final answer?”


“That’s my final answer,” he confirmed. She walked over, put a hand on his chest, and kissed his cheek. She turned and walked back to the bedroom.


She caressed the sides of the entry, turned, smiled sadly and said, “I’m going back to bed Frank.” He watched unsure what to say or what to do. Frank sat on the sofa, thinking. He kept thinking and he kept drinking.


When the sun was high in the sky, Frank sat up on the sofa and rubbed his forehead. He called out, “Pavi, I’m sorry about last night. I love you. I want us to be married some day. But, if I don’t do this, I will regret it for the rest of my life.” He got no response. “Let’s get some air,” he said as he headed to the bedroom. “I can’t do our morning run though.” He stopped himself, when he pushed the door wide. The bed was made. Her closet was empty and her drawers were vacant. He hurried to the bathroom behind the bed only to find all of her stuff was gone. He scanned the room and saw the note on the bed. When he lifted the paper, her phone and keys to the condo were under the note. It read, “Frank, an attorney will forward papers to you dissolving my interest and investment in the business. Pavica.”

Chapter 3
Frank’s victory

It is the most prestigious trade exposition with over 425 exhibitors. Frank never liked speaking or crowds, or even the thought of pitching a product. But, this was different. This was everything he had ever sacrificed for.


“Ladies and gentlemen, my name is Jon Knowles. I am the chairman of Trade Shows to Excel. It is my pleasure to have you here.” He went on with some other announcements. Frank stepped around the corner backstage and pulled off his black tee-shirt, opened a bag, pulled a fresh one out and threw it on. He brushed his hair back with his hands, wiped his sweaty face, and reappeared behind the speaker. Suddenly, Greg smiled and raised his hands. When the room was silent he went on, “Without further delay, it is my sincere pleasure to introduce to you the man whose invention may change travel forever. Please welcome Frank Rockwell.” Frank wiped his cheeks and forehead with a handkerchief as he stepped up to the microphone amidst skeptical applause.


He took a deep breath and began, “Thank you for this opportunity.” He stood tall. “It has taken me decades to bring this project to life.” An assistant pulled the cover from the five foot wide by nine foot long and ten foot high structure. Frank walked over to his invention. “This is the Universal Transfer Station.” The audience seemed impressed by the polished aluminum and etched fiberglass. “The way the machine works is,” –he helped a curvy model step near the opening- “You step inside and place your left hand on the screen. Once it identifies you, you are able to select among any of our station locations. Although over 90 stations will be in place within 3 weeks, we have none that are functional at this time. So, we set another transfer station in the back.” He pointed. “That is where Miss Crystal will arrive.” A swarm of people ran to the back as though watching someone appear would be more exciting than their disappearance. “The screen will ask if you want a one piece garment.” Several people frowned. “You see when you arrive,” Frank paused. “It’s just you.” Several mumbles arose as those in the audience that understood, explained to those that didn’t, you arrive naked. Several men eased back to the back in hopes of catching a glance of exposed skin from the young goddess. “Next, it will ask to ‘Start transfer?’” He nodded at Crystal, and she pushed the screen. Within seconds, she disappeared. Her clothes, and anything that was not flesh, lay in a pile where she stood. As quickly as she vanished, she reappeared. At the front station, some people heard the hum of doors sliding open and closed as Crystal’s clothes dropped through the floor of the machine. The other transfer unit in the back found many sighs of disappointment as the fiberglass door covered most of the model’s body. Her ankles and shoulders were only visible. In an open compartment, she pulled a one piece garment out, put it on, zipped it up and stepped out to the crowd’s applause. Rockwell arrived at her side.

He raised his voice, “I know you have questions and I will do my best to answer them.” He pointed to someone.


The man asked, “How many of these will you set up?”


About two stations per state, California and Florida will have more. Also, we have about 17 countries on board,” Frank assured. 

A woman reporter pushed her way to the front and didn’t wait to be selected. She asked, “How long have you been working on this and did you do it on your own?” Frank shook his head.
He said, “For the last 30 years, I have worked as the main brain behind the invention. However, I did have a partner in the beginning.” The woman barely allowed the last word to come out before she followed up.

“Was that woman Pavica Coldiron? And, do you think she deserves some recognition?” Frank smiled as a vein in his forehead became prominent. 
“Yes, that is her name,” he answered. “The original idea was hers. But, the end result is the vision of me and my team.” Frank pointed to a man that sounded as though he was from Jamaica.

“How much will it cost?” The inventor lit up. This was the perfect question. 
“We have not settled on an exact price yet.” There were many sighs of disappointment. “However, those of you that sign up tonight will pay only $3,000 for the year, and you are guaranteed the same price for the next three years.” Some grumbling, even booing rang out loudly. “Remember, you pay one time for the year. Then, whenever you want you can travel, no call, no arrangement or seats. Our target price is more in the neighborhood of $5,000 to $7,000 a year.” The crowd still grumbled loudly.

A lady screamed out, “How many times can we do it?” Frank cracked a smile.

He answered, “As many times as you like, one or a thousand. It’s unlimited.” Now the crowd turned positive.

A kid asked from his dad’s shoulder, “Hey mister, can kids do it?” Frank laughed and said, “Absolutely!”

An old man mumbled, “Are the clothes extra? How does that work?”

“Yes, the clothes are extra. It’s not a one size fits all we have your size in the computer. That way, you are not embarrassed. The garment will fit. And, you can pay for that benefit monthly.” Frank remembered something important. “Part of the benefit is that your clothes and valuables that you leave behind drop into a box and are mailed to you by the machine to the address in the system automatically.”


Someone else asked, “Where are the membership forms?” Frank liked ‘Membership form’ as an invitation title. It sounded nicely inclusive.

“The membership forms are at the front,” –he pointed- “Next to the machine.” Half the crowd hurried to the machine on the front stage.


A man with a clipboard asked, “When will all this begin?”


“The machines will be shipped to various locations in the next two weeks, then another two weeks to connect it all to the main system.” An 82 year old lady touched Frank on the arm.


She asked, “Mr. Rockwell, how does it work?” He pulled his arm loose.

“The simple explanation is when you fly on a plane you travel from one place to another. This is the beyond lightening speed of that.” He put his hands up. “Thank you for your interest.” Frank walked backstage and out of a side door. He was confident that his time had arrived. 

Frank felt elated about the 497 people that signed up the night before at the tech show. On line, an additional 1,100 people signed up overnight from tweets and other social media. He looked at his watch. 10:10 am Saturday. It was quiet on his porch as he sipped his first cup of coffee. His phone rang. He didn’t recognize the number.

“This is Frank,” he answered. Frank’s confidence and light spirit was shattered. It was a creditor. “You call me on a Saturday?” The man congratulated him on the positive outcome on the show. “Holy s____,” Frank used an expletive. “We get a drop of revenue, and you call me.” The man reminded him about the contract for payment. The amount was large. “I don’t have it, not right now. I can’t send the entire amount.” Frank thought for a second. “What’s the total amount? No, not the payment amount, I don’t want to make a payment.” The man gave him an amount that alarming. “I will arrange for someone else to finance me.” The man started to argue. Frank cut him off. “I will pay you in full in three weeks.” The creditor was still talking when Frank hung up on him. He knew his debt issues were on the verge of collapsing the company. He also knew that once the stations were in place, the money would quickly follow. He made a call.

He schmoozed, “Hey Carrie! I won’t keep you. But, I need you to find me someone quickly that will payoff my creditors, give me cash, and not pressure me.” The response wasn’t positive. “Money will pour in, in about three weeks.” Frank smiled as the response was more positive. “Get it done. These other guys are wearing me out.” Frank was done. “Thanks, bye.”
Chapter 3
A Fine Line


“Thanks for meeting with me on such short notice,” Carrie Lynch, an attorney for Frank Rockwell said. “You expressed that you could possibly carry a large chunk of debt?” Carrie tried to appear calm. The company was at the brink of being taken over by its creditors.


Martin Ahrens was no stranger to these types of negotiations. He got right to the point. “I believe one of your creditors is owed 170 million and the other is 229 million, is that correct?” Lynch was relieved that Ahrens already knew the numbers. Several other venture capitalists couldn’t handle the large debt.


“I won’t ask how you knew those numbers. But, that’s fairly accurate,” he responded. “What can you do?” Carrie Lynch suddenly noticed that the sharply groomed man didn’t bring a briefcase or a notebook. He determined that this was not the decision maker. “Is there someone else we have to meet with?” Martin ignored the second question.


“___________ Capitol will exchange either debt,” Martin pitched. “We will pay off the debt and charge you three million dollars and receive one percent equity in the company, if paid off in three months.” He paused without blinking. “If it is more long term, then the interest goes up to 17% and so does the equity.” Lynch laughed.


“That’s a hefty price,” he blurted. Martin Ahrens smiled cordially and stood up to leave. “I didn’t say we would not accept it.” He extended his hand for Martin to sit. He remained standing. “It just seems high. But, I believe that Frank will agree to your terms.” Martin sat back down. He pulled out an envelope and laid it in front of Carrie Lynch. “I guess that was easy enough. Now, if I can find a financier for the other lien.”


“I have another company that can handle the other lien,” Martin said. “If things don’t go well, you’ll be giving up nearly 60% of the company between the two liens.”


“That’s fine. I’m not worried about that,” Carrie said. “It would surprise me if things don’t go well.” Martin Ahrens stared at Carrie Lynch without a word. “We’re on the verge of changing the world.” He still didn’t get a reaction from Martin. “We’re gonna put airplane travel out of business.” Carrie seemed offended that Martin had not reacted in any way. “You don’t believe me, do you?” One side of Martin’s mouth went up.


“We are offering you a contract for 229 million dollars. There is also an option for an additional 10% line of credit,” Martin informed. “We only invest when we expect a return on our money.” He stood again and dropped another envelope on the table. “Creative Capital will offer you the same terms. Read both documents carefully. I don’t want you to say that we misrepresented any facts.” Carrie raised his hand to shake hands. But, Martin turned and began to walk away. “Let me know.”

Carrie wasted no time getting to Frank’s office. The deal was expensive but this was good news. He barged into the office. He was on the phone. So, Carrie opened his briefcase and placed all of the papers on a side table. Frank hung up the phone. He was critical of Carrie charging into his office. Carrie ignored him as he walked over to view the documents. Frank was quiet for ten minutes as he digested the cost. 

“I’m getting raped on this,” he squealed. “What the hell? I won’t do it. It’s too expensive.” Carrie listened. 
Like Martin had done, he got to the point, “It’s your only option. Sign it. However you choose to charge a customer, this debt is payable.” He insisted. “If you have only 50,000 people to sign up and they pay $5000 you could pay off one of the liens.” Frank looked hopeful. “But, you know there will be millions of people to sign up, and you’ll make it cheaper than I would. The value is there.” Carrie walked out.

HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH

“Mr. Rockwell?” The young man addressed. “I have the statistics that you asked for.” He handed the stapled sheets to Frank. He waited to see if the boss had any questions or would simply hand the information back. Frank looked through the few pages as though searching for a particular figure.


The young man said, “We had 1,763,000 transfers yesterday worldwide. However, there were 7 incomplete transfers in the last week.” Rockwell looked at the man.


“Sounds like a numbers issue. Perhaps they entered too many numbers or a symbol and went somewhere else.” Frank thought for a minute. “Maybe the machine was confused by some delay. Let Rachel know, she will look into it.” Frank handed the stats back to the young man. He stood there.


He asked, “What do you think happened to those people? We have calls from their families.” He pulled a man away from a computer.


“Look,” Frank said. “This is the travel scanner. A person is here” – he pointed – “Then the dot should disappear and show up at the transfer location. If not, he has vanished. The system has not detected a flaw on any of those disappearances. I will have it looked into. I know in no time the Department of Transportation will be knocking down my door.” He turned his gaze back to the employee. “Thank you.” The young man turned and walked away. 

HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH

As the day drew to a close, Martin saw a wire into one of the accounts he managed. He checked his watch. Frank Rockwell sent the money at the last possible minute. He wired 210 million dollars plus the 10.5 million dollar fee. Something didn’t set right with Martin Ahrens about the transaction. So, Martin checked the contract. It said, “Two months or 60 days, whichever time was the lesser.” He checked the wall calendar. “63 days.” The contract stated that if paid on time the financial company would receive 10% equity ownership. If paid after the appointed time, the company would grant 30% to Pavica’s corporation. Martin checked the other lien holding account. Frank had missed the deadline on that payoff also. Martin mumbled, “He thinks he owns 80% of his company still. But, he only owns 40%. Better hope there is never a dispute.”

Chapter 4
Ann Falls

The doorbell rang. Ann looked at the clock above the table, 10:30am. She opened the door to no one. However, there in her driveway was that car, a black Mercedes Benz. She walked out in disbelief. She looked around more for Pavica than anything else. If the car was here, surely Pavica was too. Maybe it was all just a dream. As she walked around the car, she realized it was the same car, just a different car. There was no blood inside, and the window was not broken. Besides, this car had a red bow around it. She opened the door to find the keys and a card. The card read, “Ann Falls”. She opened the envelope. The card said, “You have always been very special to me. Enjoy your new car. Love, Pavica”. Ann crumbled onto the seat. Such a great love gift, but Pavica was gone. Remembering the thieves, she got in closed and locked the doors. Then, she wept. Since her husband had died three years ago, Pavica had become her best friend. Now, she was alone. And, what would her daughter think of her once she found out. The envelope from lunch, Ann had not opened it. She stepped out of the car, touched it in disbelief, and smiled. She locked it and went into the house. Ann headed directly for the envelope Pavica had given her.

As she suspected, the envelope had a card in it, and a note. The note said, “Please give the card to Elizabeth. God bless you for all that you have done for her and for me. Love, Pavica.” Ann tossed the papers onto the counter next to the stove. She paced for several minutes before going back and tucking the card into the envelope again and placing it in a drawer. She left it there until the funeral.

Chapter 5
Elizabeth Falls

When I look back, so many things make sense. They display awareness. For example, when I arrived at the restaurant about fifteen minutes after Pavica’s call, there were police there. My mother stood within that crowd of people and wept. I didn’t understand. I wasn’t given the impression that something was wrong when I got the call. My mother’s eyes brightened with relief when she saw me. She poured out her sorrow as she told me that Pavica’s car was crushed by a truck’s load when she chased some men that tried to steal her car. She had to have known.

About a week later, there was an odd gathering that didn’t seem like a funeral. As an assistant in the human resource department of Appearance Corporation, a Frank Rockwell Corporation, I was surprised to see clients and top level executives from our firm. There were a lot of movers and shakers that were in attendance. The chosen location was a big catholic church. It was a good choice. I heard someone call out, “Governor!” I’m not very good on names, but I was sure there were actors and actresses sprinkled throughout. So many faces looked familiar in one way or another. My mother asked me to take the day off and to stay with her at the funeral. 
Mother cried a lot. Her only excuse was, “You don’t know how much she did for me and our family.” She seemed to be holding back as she looked at me. Then she would turn and move onto something else. 

The funeral began with a man that didn’t appear to be a priest. Mom had told me that Pavica was a devout Christian. The man introduced himself as Pastor Tim. He argued about how horrible a loss of such an outstanding person as Pavica Coldiron. He told how she had donated millions of dollars to the church. Pastor Tim explained that what was most different was that she donated the money only to the benevolence fund. The money was only to go to families that were losing their homes. The homes were to be paid off. “Ooohhh,” the crowd responded. He finished his presentation and then Aaron the mayor of the city of Monroe Louisiana stood up. He was a black man. He talked about Pavica’s heritage and how she had done the race right with all of her accomplishments. I looked around. Many people had scrunched faces of confusion. 
I asked mother, “What’s he talking about?” She shushed me and I let it go. Since we were in California, the Governor of California went up. He made sure everyone knew who he was. He droned on for about ten minutes mostly about the projects that he and Pavica had worked on. 

By the sudden increase in the number of cameras taking pictures, and the glamour of the woman, the next speaker must have been a famous actress. She opened with, “I spent my first six months in Los Angeles being used and lied to. Next, I got pregnant. I was a mess. My pregnancy was starting to show, nothing was working, and I needed a job. I sat waiting for the manager for twenty minutes to come and interview me at one of their tables. He spent less than five minutes asking me questions before he stood and told me that they would let me know by the end of the week.” Her eyes filled with tears. “He wasn’t gonna call me and I knew it. So, I just sat there at McDonalds trying to pull myself together.” Pavica Coldiron slid into the seat across from me and asked, ‘How can I help you?’ I didn’t really think that she could. But, I riddled off all that I’d done wrong and the mistakes I’d made, what I wanted, and my commitment to get there. Then there was silence. She saw that I was staring at her McFlurry, and asked, ‘Want one?’ We laughed about me staring and my tongue hanging out. I felt like a little girl at an ice cream parlor. I will never forget that. She was a funny lady, very easy to warm up to.” She smiled at the audience as she treasured those moments. “Well, she gave me a job at one of her local companies and I got to live at her condo.” She looked to be about 30, my age. She was a gorgeous woman. I wondered how long ago this had happened. “She got me interviews with legitimate movie agents and shortly after I had my baby, I began working in Hollywood.” She froze for a moment, then concluded, “She made a difference in my life. She even got me to go to church. Thank you.” With that she stepped away from the microphone and left the stage as the cameras once again lit and click away.
To my surprise, my mother stood and walked to the stage. I had never heard her speak publicly and I knew she didn’t like it. She introduced herself and said, “My cousin helped a lot of women. In fact,” my mother chuckled. “There were rumors for some time that these women that were coming and going were her lovers. Because she would let them use her various cars and they had their own keys to everything. She was very trusting. The truth is,” – I could see her sadness. I had to bat my own eyes to control my tears as I knew nothing about all of what she was saying – “She never had any lovers after her split with the only man she ever loved many years before. Not one relationship for three decades. In her mind, no one else was ever the right fit. And, in her mind, if it was not the right fit she refused to allow her emotions to get involved.” I glanced around, the audience sat speechless. “But, she never let it squelch her enthusiasm for life. She had a complicated and gifted mind. She was always thinking, tinkering, inventing or praying. Rarely have I seen anyone with more heart. She cared for young and old, loved everyone with a deep admiration, and gave tirelessly to anyone she had concern about.” She tilted her head. “She had a wonderful connection with God. Once when she got screwed on a business deal, I asked her if she would sue the young and naïve partner. And, she said no. She said I will pray that God give him neither peace, or rest until he is on his knees begging the Lord to forgive him and change his ways.” The audience found this humorous. “She was the good friend we all wish we could be to others regardless of what they did. I admired her more than anyone I have ever met. Thank you.” 
The last speaker was a 6’ 4” creamed coffee colored black man. He had to be in his late 70’s. He said his name was Allen Johnson. Allen was a good looking man. I would have imagined that even some twenty year olds would be attracted to him. He had a marvelous smile and a peaceful air. My mother came back and sat down. She locked her arm with mine and I could feel her body tremble. I looked at her. She had put her sunglasses on and pushed them high on the bridge of her nose. I patted her arm and looked on. I had not realized that she had been so intimate with my aunt. They must have talked more often than I was aware of. And, even though I had rarely seen her at our house, Pavica Coldiron had been at every large gathering our family ever had. But, we had never been to her house, ever. I thought about every odd circumstance, emergency, dinner conversation and any group gathering our family ever had and couldn’t think of one time the woman’s name was mentioned. It was odd. 

When the service ended, my mother didn’t have a lot to say as we maneuvered through the stargazers, looky-loos, politicians, thugs and wannabe’s. She clenched me tight and kept her head and eyes to the ground. My 59 year old mother acted as though she were a frail centenarian. Near the sidewalk, I saw Anastasia in the distance. I didn’t want to leave my mother. So, I continued towards the car. I looked back again. I was sure the man that stood close to her was the lead partner at the law firm she had been a temp for, for the last few weeks. On several occasions, she had escorted him to various events.
There was a private get together. However, as soon as we arrived, Ann Falls, my mother, walked in greeted three different sets of people, people I had never met. “This is my daughter Elizabeth Falls,” she said. After that, we turned and left. She directed me to a local deli. Mom played with a salad of some sort. I dabbled with a bowl of chicken soup. After over twenty minutes of silence, I asked, “Is there something more that you need to tell me?” She nodded.

“When we get to your place, I have some things I must tell you,” she admitted. We lingered for another fifteen minutes and left.

At the condo, she wasted no time. She told me a few things that didn’t make sense. Something about the agreement being to wait until someone died. I had been adopted as a baby. Then she handed me a fat card envelope. “The card is from Pavica Coldiron. Call me if you have any questions. But, right now I can’t do this,” she said. “I always hoped that I would die first. But, she knew. I don’t know how but she always knew.” She hustled out the door with a hug and a kiss. In shock, I watched her drive away. 

I am a neat and organized person. So, in the midst of my anxiety, I set the envelope on the table, and I avoided it for the next two hours. I chose to do my typical Thursday stuff. I washed my clothes, changed my sheets, and took a bath. After all was complete, I fixed a pot of decaf coffee, poured a cup added creamer, and took a long slow sip as I stared at the envelope. Suddenly, I grabbed it and tore down the side edge. I pulled out a card with a meticulously folded letter. The paper used was an elegant type that had to be a special order. I dropped it and covered my mouth. It was done exactly the way I would have done it. I set the coffee down and looked towards the refrigerator. I walked over and took down the pomegranate wine. This was sure to be a memorable moment. No longer was I frantic, I was excited to read what she had to say. I rinsed the dusty wine stemmed glass, popped the cork and filled the Waterford treasure. I relocated to the sofa, took a sip and began to read:

Dear Elizabeth,


You cannot know my regrets or the rivers of tears I have cried. I have watched you grow into a lovely young woman. I have tried not to miss a single celebration of your life. I have truly loved you. When you graduated as valedictorian, I was there. When you passed your driving test, I bought the car. When you needed a prom dress, I picked it out and had it delivered to your home. I could keep going, but it could seem creepy. The cousin I gave you to could not have loved you more.
Unfortunately, we will not get to sit and have a conversation. But, we share a love for Ann, biology, science, God, and life. I have a challenge for you. Travel to my Louisiana home and stay at least a weekend. You’re inquisitive and will find the information. A substantial deposit has been made into your account to cover your expenses and your time.

Love,

Pavica Coldiron
She also included the address and the location of the key. I hurried to my computer and checked my account. I froze in disbelief. $20,000 as a deposit had posted first thing this morning. It would surely cover my expenses. I entered her name and did a search. Even though I was unable to find out much about her, she was a wealthy woman. I ran to my room and did a childish flop onto my bed. This was simply the most exciting thing I had ever been invited to do.
Chapter 5

The opportunity
With little thought I decided it was worth my vacation and sick days. I submitted my request for vacation and sick time. It was denied and the email said I absolutely could not be absent for six days straight. So, I decided that since I had just gotten paid that I would fly to Monroe, Louisiana and drive to Pavica’s house in Grambling for the weekend. My monthly bills totaled less than $2,874 and I had already paid them all. I had the money. I called my mother and assured her that I loved her. I told her I needed to leave for a few days and that everything was okay. I also called my friend Anastasia. Then, I booked a flight reserved a car, and packed. The next day, I finished my work and met with the head of my department for a project we were working on. 

“Well, that’s it. We can present it next Friday,” Rachel Scott said. We put the envelopes, folders, and files into our individual carry alls. “What are you doing this weekend?”

“I am flying to Louisiana?” I answered. 

Rachel smiled. With her face all lit up, she asked, “A New Orleans red eye getaway?” I shook my head. 

“No,” I answered. “I am going to Grambling.” She thought about it a minute.

She asked, “I’ve heard of the Grambling Tigers. Isn’t that a university?” I nodded. “Well leave early if you’re caught up. What time is your flight?”

“2:15,” I answered. 

“Yeah, you should go early,” she advised. If she said it was okay, you could bank on it. She had been with the company longer than anyone. So, I put everything away, gave the files to the people that needed them, and left at 11:45.

When I arrived at the airport, I saw an earlier flight. “Excuse me,” I asked the lady at the counter that I had just checked in at. “Are there any seats on the 12:30 flight?” The woman put me on the early flight and I boarded fifteen minutes later. I smiled. I would arrive in time to drive around before the sun set.

I drove down the cul-de-sac street that led to her house. I had not seen anything like the layout of the area. Trees were everywhere and when I was on the highway there was no end to the lakes and swamps. There were no sidewalks, and when you past the five or so houses on a block, if people were standing outside, they waved. Pavica’s house was on the side with just hers and another house taking up the block. I could see big Goliath trees on the sides of her property. She had several pecan trees as well. I drove up the curved driveway that allowed you to exit from either gated side. It was wide enough to turn around anywhere. The house must have been built for Pavica. There was a two-car garage on both sides of the house. A brick fence enclosed the entire yard, front and back.

When I walked through the front double doors, I immediately turned left to turn off the alarm. After the reading said, ‘All clear’, I stood for a minute to take it all in. I stepped beyond the marble entry onto the bamboo floor in the living room. The soft lights of the elevated ceiling lit the room elegantly by sensor. I continued into the kitchen. It was gourmet style, which to me meant that you had enough stoves and counters for several people to be doing anything together at the same time. The kitchen was situated on the left back side of the living room. Off to the right, I could barely see what turned out to be the only bathroom not attached to a bedroom. As I walked out of the kitchen slightly across the living room, my feet sunk deep into the carpet. The solo bathroom had a full bath with a shower as well as a sitting area and a closet with robes and towels. The window on the left side above the toilet was higher than you would have expected. It obviously was designed mostly for ventilation. The shower and separate tub was at the far right corner. The sitting area separated the two. The closet was on the side between the shower and door. The sink and mirror were on the opposite wall.

Each bedroom was around 800 square feet each. The door area of each was narrow with the back of the room very wide for the bathroom walk-in closet and sitting room. The bedroom nearest the solo bathroom appeared as though someone, a male, was living in it. The center bedroom must have been Pavica’s. I set my suitcase in the next bedroom and headed out to the kitchen. The kitchen must have been important to her as conversation from the kitchen appeared convenient from any place in the house. The smallest room in the house was the den. It was located between Pavica’s room and the room I put my suitcase in. Like a library, there were books everywhere.

A narrow room that widened at the back, but hidden in the right corner was her computer printer, and a television. That television was the only one in the entire house. At some point, I looked forward to seeing this part of the house from the outside. It had to either be rounded or octagonal. 

I went back into the kitchen, past the cutting island, and the refrigerator. Unseen from anywhere else in the house was a door that led to the garage. Then, I went back through the living room and there was the other door for the other garage obscurely positioned so as not to take away from the rest of the house.

Touring Grambling, Louisiana is no joy if you have no clue where you are going. I traveled on roads that went on forever through the countryside and then just stopped. On some roads, you’d see a run down house and not see another structure for a half mile or so. People, mostly black, sat on their porches. I thought it odd that they waved. I didn’t know them and they knew they didn’t know me. But, they waved. I took awhile for me to just realize that this was a different pace of life. The people were poor. But, they had a more relaxed pace of life that I had never seen in my Playa Del Rey, California existence. I headed back to Pavica’s home in the more modern area of Grambling.

The door was unlocked and I had not reset the alarm. Before I ran back out, I heard, “Well, look-a-here! You must be Elizabeth?” The tall black man from the funeral said. He went back to cutting potatoes. A little more at ease because I remembered him from the funeral, and he knew my name, I came up to the edge of the kitchen. He opened the oven, closed it, took a moment to look at me again before cutting potatoes again. “You’re a pretty little white girl. Blue eyes like your father.”

“You know my father?”

“No, never met him. But, I saw a picture of him once.” He stopped and looked Elizabeth over. “And that course straight brown hair, with that tint of hazel in there, you got that from your mother.” He knew my heritage which was more than I knew.


“You know me,” I started. “But I don’t know you.” The 73 year old man stuck out his hand.


“Allen Johnson,” he said. I smiled. He was a charming, healthy, well built, and extremely handsome man. I extended both hands. It truly was a pleasure to meet him.


I said, “Nice to meet you.” He went back to cooking. “How do you know Pavica?”


“That’s my niece.”


“But you’re black.” The words slipped out of my mouth before I could catch them. Allen laughed.


“Pavica’s mother was a black woman,” he revealed. “She’s my sister Patricia’s kid.” He emptied the potatoes into a strainer.


“My mother was black?”


“Half, her father was white,” Allen informed. My mind wandered. It all explained why I neither looked like the mom or dad that raised me. Neither directly gave me their genes. 


“I would never have guessed that one,” I claimed.


“Maybe that is why your father was never in the picture,” he suggested. Now I stared at him. “I have an opinion about everything.” He reached into the oven and pulled out a dish that filled the room with curry, pepper, and the smell of marinated meat. He continued, “I didn’t know when you’d be here, or if you’d come at all.” He walked over to the refrigerator and opened the door. “So, there’s a lot of food in here.”


I pointed to the dish that he had pulled out of the oven. “Who is that for?” He smiled.


“That is for you and me.” He walked over to the counter and set the dish on the table. “I hope you’re hungry.”


“I’m starving,” I responded as I walked over to the table and tried to figure out where to sit at the eight spot seats at the oversized table. “That’s enough,” I insisted.


“Yeah, we’ll see,” he expressed. He prayed for our food and our time together. We sat and ate for five minutes before I reached for more. “See, I told you. You should have just let me pile it on.” We laughed. He told me all about the area and the changes that Louisiana was going through compared to years gone by. 

We clean up. He asked, “How long will you be here?”


“For the weekend,” I answered. He smiled.


“Maybe you will change your mind,” he insisted. We finished cleaning up and put the feast in containers. “He grabbed the handle to the garage door. “Are you afraid of dogs?” I shook my head. “Would you like to meet Pavica’s dogs?” I nodded. He opened the door and they bolted in. One was a female chocolate Labrador retriever, the other a male Golden retriever. 


“Have they been locked in there all day?” I asked as I rubbed their heads.


“No, they came with me. I’ve kept them with me since Pavica’s death.” I smiled. The dogs were in good hands. “The brown one is Jezebel. I call her Jezzy. The light one is Ahab.” 


“What a funny combination!”


Allen explained, “It’s the same all over the world. He wants the money. And, she wants the power and control.” He let them out through the sliding glass door next to the table. They wrestled each other and ran off past the pool. “They’ll be back cause it’s time for them to eat.” He fixed their food and set the bowls near the glass door. The dogs came back and each went to his own bowl. Allen decided to go home. He left the dogs for me to care for them. In the evening, I explored the books in Pavica’s room. There were many books, but also journals. I scanned through one of Pavica’s journal said, 
“There I was pregnant having walked out on the man I loved. I truly believed that God knew that if I stayed, I would have worked on the Machine. I didn’t want to anger my creator.” I put the journal down and picked up another.

“Martin Ahrens worked for the insurance company that compensated me. He presented their potential clients to me to screen them for longevity. So, after I reviewed their information, he approved or rejected the client. He knew the movers and shakers. After my wealth became fairly substantial, Martin invited me to look over his portfolio and investment returns. Yes, he had stocks and bonds that he was making about 13% on. But, on his venture capital he was making an impressive 29 to 41%. He said that he had lost money on six investments totaling 36 million dollars. I was shocked. Then, he told me the benefits. He had made over 397 million dollars on his venture investments. Now, he had my attention. 


“At the time, I had been paid over 83 million dollars over about seven years for their high profile clients. He could see that I didn’t let the money control me nor did I flaunt it. So, he invited me to invest as a partner on one of his deals. It worked well and he continued to invite me into his deals. I surpassed Martin when three of his high-profile deals, that didn’t include me, went south. I expanded my reach as I began to buy undervalued companies and pushed them to peak performance. I didn’t sell them. And, I kept my company private.”

Now, I had a reason to stay. After I cancelled my flight, surprisingly, I slept. Pavica had laid everything out so far. So, I had no doubt that she had a plan for me. I just had to find out what it was. The smell of breakfast woke me. I smiled. This slower pace in my life would be easy to fall in love with. I walked towards the kitchen.


Allen said, “There’s my girl!” Then he frowned. “Did you miss your flight?” I shook my head pleasantly.


“No,” I said. “I cancelled my flight. I’m staying a little longer.” He smiled. “I guess the smell in the air means that you approve?” He laughed.


“No,” he refused. “I was just hungry and you can’t have none,” he said with a big grin.


“Oh, but I might starve. And, if I starve, I might go berserk. I could destroy the house.” He changed his expression.


“Well, I better feed you then,” he conceded. “Pull up a chair.” I quickly sat and waited as he scooped up some egg on a plate he had partially prepared and set it in front of me.


“You are such a good cook,” I complemented as I chewed. “If you don’t mind, tell me about Pavica.”


“Well,” he started. “After Pavica split from your father, she was different with men. She wouldn’t date anyone. She would go out here and there but never for any length of time. In fact, after about a month I would never see the same guy again. She would not give up here time, not for men. Her phone would ring, and she wouldn’t even answer it. Even when I called her, I usually had to wait and get a call back.” 


I asked, “Did my father ever look for her?”


“No,” he responded. “When she came back into his life, she was suing him for using her designs in the machine.” Uncle took a bite of food. “She sued him several times but only the last time, which was eight years ago, did she win.”


“What did she get out of it?”


“Nothing financially,” he answered. “Her suit made him go back and redesign the whole thing again.”


“I bet he hated her.”


“No, he just never understood why she wanted to kill the machine project.”


“Did you think she had a good reason? Or, do you think she over reacted?” I questioned.


“Those are technical questions that I don’t know the answer to. She was very good with numbers. In her will, she left me nothing,” he said. He let it hang a moment. 


Surprised, I asked, “Nothing?” He smiled.


“Well, she left me that pretty little Jaguar that’s in the garage. I love that car. But, she didn’t need to. She took my little money, invested it and made me rich,” he barked. “What I need her money for? I got my own.” He took a couple of bites of his biscuit. “I made some good biscuits.”


I insisted, “But, what do you think of the machine?”


“They say it’s faster and cheaper than flying if you travel a lot,” he said.


“But, do you like it?” I insisted.


“I always like new things, especially if they make sense.” He lifted his glass and took a drink of milk. “This thing definitely makes sense. But, Pavica told me never to use it.”


“Did she tell you why?” He stopped chewing.


“Yes,” he answered. I waited to see if he would tell me more. He didn’t volunteer anything else.


“What did she say?”


“That the machine was cursed by God,” he said as he stared at me for my reaction.


I pried, “What did that mean?” He stopped chewing again. “It sounds ridiculous to me.”


He shook his head. “Not when she found evidence that people were dying for no other reason.” He closed his eyes. “She called it Transfer Collapse.” We were silent for a while. 


“Uncle, how did you find out about Pavica’s death? Did you see her that day?” I paused. “Am I asking too many questions?” He put up a hand to stop me.


“It’s okay. I have had time to grieve. I miss her. But, I have so many memories that I treasure. So,” he reviewed my question in his head. “Oh yeah!” He laughed. “She set me up.” I didn’t have to ask. “Your mother took me to the movies the night before, out by my house. That made it easy to drop me off at my own house.” He stood up and gathered his dishes. “I came over the next day at about two in the afternoon. And, right there” – he pointed – “was a note for me. The accident had already happened. She was gone.”


“Do you think she knew how she would die?”


“No, but I’m sure she knew when.” His face brightened. “If she had anyone around, she would have turned them a loose or sent them away. She was a smart woman. She even left her watch on the table by my note.”


“If you could replay that day, how would you change it?”


“I would have stayed with her the whole day. I would have spent the night here too.”


“Why? Do you think you could have changed destiny?” I said it lightly. But, his response revealed his age.


“I would have talked to her one more time.” He stared off. “Maybe we would have left this world together.”


“You are so vibrant. You have so much to offer others,” I complimented. “You are the main reason I changed my flight home.”


His voice cracked, “She was my buddy, my favorite niece, my confidant. And, when you leave, what will I do? I feel as though my memories are now surpassing my dreams of the future.” I stood and carried my dishes to the sink.


“Uncle, I can’t promise anything. But, for the time I am here, you and I are going to have fun. Don’t worry. We will enjoy each day.” 

After some silence, Allen asked, “Ever wonder if your birth has any meaning?” I nodded.

“I have wondered that many times,” - I answered as I watched Allen’s bobber disappear under water - “Usually in desperate times.” He pulled up a large colorful perch. 

“You not gonna catch as many as me, not today partner,” he bragged. I laughed. I loved being related to this man. He loved life. He put the big fish in the Styrofoam cooler, baited his hook and threw back into the water. “Pavica was always playing with numbers.” I changed my dead bait for a lively cricket and threw my line out about fifteen feet towards the back of the boat. “Wow, you are a fast learner. I figured I’d be changing your bait for you. You aren’t even afraid of them ugly crickets. Anyway, she figured out a mortality formula. It’s based on numbers that are unique to each person.” I didn’t tell him I had read some of her notes. “It took her years to devise an equation that worked.” He waited to see what I would say. I said nothing. Instead, I slung the cricket off in search for the perfect jumper. The one I picked escaped me twice before I got him on the hook. When I swung the line into the water he whispered, “That’s a good one. You might catch something with that.” My line began to move around strangely. My bobber disappeared. “Pull it up, pull it up!” For a girl that had never fished before, this was exhilarating. It slapped on the side of the boat near Allen. He pulled it in and examined it. It was the biggest fish in the cooler. “You still aint gonna catch me.” I froze to take in the flight of a big bird. This was swampland and it was quiet, peaceful, slow and calming. I would have never believed I would enjoy anything like this. It was out of my character. All of this was different. I was changing, and it wasn’t so bad. 

Allen remembered more, “Pavica was always thinking. She would come up with some grand solution to a great societal problem and babble on for hours.” She and I were very much alike. I thought of something else.

“There are no pictures of her anywhere in the house,” I stated. He pulled a fish up and it hit the boat and wiggled off the hook.

“She was by far the prettiest girl most guys would ever see. But, she could see early on that she didn’t like that kind of attention. You know the kind where the beauty gets treated differently. Guys would even date her friends just to get close to her.” I pulled in another fish and placed it in the cooler. “She refused to think of herself as beautiful. Her friends would take pictures of them all together. She would never shy away. But, she never asked for the spotlight. She never even owned a camera. Beauty is a fleeting quality that Pavica did not want to be trapped by.” I caught another fish. Allen pulled in his pole and set it along the seats between and beside us. “Okay, it’s time to go. I got things to do.”

“What do you have to do?” His mouth opened but nothing came out. We both laughed. “That’s what I thought. You just don’t want me to catch up on the fish count.” He laughed again. 

“Watch for stumps for me,” he directed as he started the motor.

“That’s stump patrol,” I said. “I can do that.”

We ate fast food that night, and Allen went home. Interestingly, he didn’t come back to the mortality formula. So, I moved into Pavica’s room and committed to searching her journals. I was glad to have the place to myself and to explore Pavica’s journals again. I flipped a few pages in the first journal. I put it back and pulled another. I read the first page, turned to the back, closed it and put it back. When I got to the fifth book, I found the beginning of the formula. It was just as Allen had said. I skipped over several pages and paragraphs. Then an odd sentence caught my eye. It said, ‘If you are the person I would most want to catch up on who I am, you will find the solution in the book of your birth month and the day.’ I closed the journal. I saw a very discreet number eight on the binding. I climbed out of the bed and scanned her library shelves. At the bottom in no specific order, were her journals numbered to 52. Her journals were the blank page kind where you could set your own order. 

I selected the eighth journal and fanned through it. On the day of the 26th was a complete page of numbers. It also had equal signs, pluses, minus’, multiplication and division signs. After more than two hours on the page, I put the journal down and took a drink of wine. I realized that this was a meticulous woman that paid attention to detail. If it was displayed in her journal there was a reason. I rotated the glass of pomegranate wine. Magnified in the rounded bottom of the glass was a number. Not a Waterford glass, but the manufacturer must have thought highly of their product because they had gone to great expense to identify the product. I wondered if each glass had its own number. Then it occurred to me, I had my own number. I nearly threw the glass onto the night stand, but steadied the wobble and sopped up the spill from a box of tissues. I went back to the 26th. I scanned the page three times. There it was. There was my social security number followed by an equal sign followed by my date of birth and a subtraction sign. Next, was my hour of birth in military time next to a division sign and the number seven. The next series of numbers gave me the remaining percentage of the year which I multiplied by the other number times seven. The end of the formula was to add the remaining days of the month after my birthday. According to her, she found that the formula worked unless the numbers didn’t work out. In those cases, about ten percent of the time, there was no telling how long any person in that group would live.
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“Sir?” The woman addressed.


“What is it?” Frank snapped.


“I cannot get an update on current installations,” she responded. His face grew tense.


He asked, “Why not? There better be a good reason.”


“Well it’s Rachel’s department. A woman in her group has the information that we need,” she revealed. 

Frank grinned. “Please get to the point,” he insisted. 

“She’s was on vacation and has not returned.”

“Fire her,” Frank instructed. “But, before you do that, get the file information that we need.”

“She’s on vacation sir,” the woman said. 

“Call her, send an email, but get the information that we need. If she is unable to deliver it, let me know,” he stated.
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“Anastasia, why would Pavica invest over a quarter of a billion dollars not once but twice in the Rockwell Corporation? She didn’t need the money. And, she wants the company to fail.” Elizabeth frowned.


“She made the investments only six months before her death,” Anastasia said. Her face brightened. “She knew right?” The attorney inside her clarified, “She knew that she would die soon.”


Elizabeth confirmed, “She knew the exact hour.”


“Well,” Anastasia stood to leave. “We have to see what the contract documents tell us. I’ll bet Ahrens knows exactly why she bought in.”
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Frank walked into the private conference room. He was stunned at the visitor waiting. He said, “Why are you here? Is this another round of threats before the lawsuit? We have not violated any patents. Everything we have, we have created.” Pavica’s smile was sad.

“I have come to say goodbye,” she responded. Frank twisted his head like a dog at an odd sound.

“Wouldn’t that have been more appropriate 30 years ago?” Frank bellowed. She ignored his angry outburst. “And now you’ve decided to leave me alone?”

“My efforts to hinder the travel machine have never been a personal attack on you,” she said. “It is important to me that you know that fact.” Frank could see that this exchange was different.
“Why? Why now?”

“Doesn’t matter,” Pavica said as she walked towards the door. Frank rushed to the door and put his hand against it.

He insisted, “Why?” She dropped her head. “Just tell me why?” She reached for the handle, and looked at Frank.

“Because I thought you should know that I always loved you,” She said. In shock, Frank released the door and Pavica hurried away.

“Okay, what’s up Carrie?”

“Equity Exchange is owned by Blue Cap Holdings,” he paused and stared at Frank. “Both are owned by Illusive Gate 7.”

“Why do I feel like this does not have a happy ending?” Carrie didn’t comment, but kept on pealing away the layers.

Carrie continued, “You’re right. Illusive Gate 7 is a 2.7 billion dollar company.” Frank nodded. “It is owned by Pavica Coldiron.” Frank slowly rose to his feet. “Frank? Frank are you okay? Sit down let me get you some water.” Carrie rushed out. “Someone bring me some water for Mr. Rockwell/Osborne!” Carrie came back into the room. Frank looked like a ghost.

He said, “She’ll ruin me.” Carrie leaned into Frank’s face.

“She’s dead,” he whispered.

“That woman was the smartest person I know,” he responded. “She 
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“I have a list of 32 people that vanished and the number of transfers they’ve had and when they should have died,” she said as she dropped a copy in front of every one in attendance. Frank Rockwell jumped to his feet.


“This is a witch hunt,” he said.


“Sit down Frank,” Anastasia demanded. 

“Elizabeth, when I was pregnant with you, initially I didn’t know. That was one of the many things that an angel of the Lord told me. The hardest of them was the advice to hide my child, you, from your father. So, I went to Europe. When I returned, you were over a year old. I drove to the attorney’s office, signed the papers and my cousin, Ann Falls, and her husband adopted you.”
“I made money early in my life with inventions that needed formulas that were simple for me. I was always fascinated by numbers and continued to study and apply sequences of five to twenty numbers while I was in Europe. I bought books that I already owned in the states, like “Number in Scripture,” “The Theology of Arithmetic,” “Numerology and the Divine Triangle,” and several others. I used them as cross references to new books and articles I discovered in the archives of Europe’s old libraries. When I brought you back to the States, giving you up to Anne Falls was the most loving thing that I could do. I knew she’d be a great mother. I knew the family and that made it easier. 

I stayed home less than a week and headed back to Europe. I can’t tell you why or what inspired me to search. But, I was on a quest for the purpose numbers served in our lives. It took me eight years to discover the right combination of numbers for a mortality formula. I checked over 3,000 different deceased people from various countries and it seemed to work. I used it for insurance company applicants. I gave them information on individuals for over two years. When they learned that I was correct eight out of ten times, I named my price as an independent consultant. It made me really wealthy.” I turned a few pages and skipped many others. Then, I found it. Strangely, it was not in the last book, but in the middle of the first journal. It said, “If you are willing to accept my challenge, call Martin Ahrens.” She gave me the phone number and address of his office in Santa Monica. “He will interview you. He will tell you what this is all about. I think you can do both.”
Elizabeth called the number. Martin answered on the third ring. She said, “Hi, I am Elizabeth Falls. Pavica Coldiron left your number for me to call.” 


“Oh yes, hello,” Martin said. Elizabeth smiled as the man sounded genuinely excited to hear from her. “Give me just a minute to get rid of this other call.” He was off the line for maybe thirty seconds. When he came back to the phone, they went back and forth with general conversation. Finally, Elizabeth asked, “Can you tell me what this is all about?” Martin didn’t hesitate.

“Well, Pavica is offering you the opportunity to run and eventually own her network of companies,” Martin stated. “I need to meet with you and go over a few details. But, she is basically giving it all to you.” There was an uncomfortable silence. “With some exceptions, like you cannot break up any company in the system and sell it. Also, you cannot buy any companies without my approval.” Martin searched for something more positive. “I will teach you how to keep the whole conglomerate running smoothly.” The two discussed a time two days away to meet and go over a plan for taking over.

Martin Ahrens walked into the conference room with a look of boredom. He set down at the twenty foot table opened his briefcase, spread onto the table several stapled packets of paper. The 5’ 8” Italian looking man looked the part of a businessman. He never appeared as the cutthroat attorney he was capable of being.

Elizabeth walked into the six floor building, and stopped cold. “Wow!” She blurted before she could close her mouth. The articulately designed lobby, of Pavica’s building, smelled fresh and pitched expensive at every angle.


The guard asked, “May I help you?” 


“Yes, I have an appointment with Martin Ahrens,” Elizabeth responded. The guard looked into a thick binder.


She ran her hand down the page and asked, “Your name please?”


“Elizabeth Falls,” she claimed politely. Then stopped and pointed at the appointment book.


“Yes,” she confirmed with a smile. “Go to the sixth floor, turn right, and go all the way to the end of the hall. It’s a large conference room that he will be seeing you in. Elizabeth thanked the woman and entered the elevator. Everything was smooth and meticulously arranged, even the elevator ride. She was surprised when the door opened that she was not still on the lobby level. 

She did as instructed and when got to the conference room, there was no one. She gawked at the stacks of papers that seemed to be organized, and reached out to thumb a page or two. She jumped when his voice announced his presence.


“You must be Elizabeth Falls!” He sounded genuinely happy to see her, and stuck out his hand. She grabbed his hand with both of hers.


“Yes, and you are Martin?” He nodded.


“It looks like a lot. However, I have simply organized these piles into the corporations that they pertain to,” he explained. “Over the next few weeks, I will fill you in on Pavica’s extensive holdings and corporations.” Elizabeth nodded. “Now,” he looked both ways over the paperwork as she sat across from him. “You can be completely hands on, or an absentee owner, as I call them.” She frowned.


“No, I want to do exactly what Pavica did,” she insisted. “I want to know her business.” Martin smiled.


“She thought you would,” he said sliding the first document over. “This thirty page document will tell you what she did on a daily basis to maintain all of her companies.” Elizabeth huffed. Martin looked at her. “Pavica really believed in you. So, I do too. You can do this.”


“I am relieved that you think so,” she whispered. “It’s all a bit much.”


“What is?”


“I just got fired from my job. Now, my new job is to run a multibillion dollar conglomerate,” she snickered. “As I said, it’s all a bit much.” 
“Not really,” he assured. “With a level head, and following my direction based on the way Pavica did it, you won’t loose a step.”

“How much will my new position pay me?”

“The first twelve months, you will receive $16,000 a month. If you agree to continue and take over Pavica’s assets,” Martin stopped as Elizabeth frowned. “Meaning that you live in her homes, drive her cars and such, then I will show you what, and when to pay all of those necessities.” The young woman smiled, and Martin continued.


“There are eleven companies under Illusive Gate Corporation,” he said. They spent two hours reviewing the various companies. “Pavica oversaw major decisions. But, she put into play leaders that were capable of running her companies without having their hands held.” Martin filled in a calendar of meetings for Elizabeth to attend. Then, he explained the luncheons with partners, friends, and associates of Pavica.


He said, “These connections or luncheons are more important than your meetings.” He thought about his words. “Whether you are there at these meetings or not, things will be decided. You don’t have a voice, not yet.”

“If you find this, it is because you are at your wits end. When I first began to work on the machine, I did what I always do with all of my inventions I put a spoiler into the system. It is a code that implodes the system.”
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On his way home from his debut presentation at the trade show, Frank was happy. He uttered the word, “Finally!” Then, he huffed. It was nice to receive so many memberships. The people believed in the product. They believed in the machine. He tried to enjoy the moment. But, thoughts of deadlines and delivery crept in. Something always robbed his joy. When he first loved that woman, the one that kept trying to ruin the machine, he would have bartered with God to give her the stars and the moon. But, she walked away. And, that letter he received one day before her death. Was that a creepy coincidence? And, what did she mean by, ‘A piece of us lives on.’ Frank pulled his car to the side. Thirty years had flown by. She had ended the note with, ‘Goodbye’. He had to admit, the letter wasn’t sarcastic, or bitter. It wasn’t angry or jealous. It was the end. He mumbled, “How did she know?” 

“Elizabeth,” Anatasia started. “Do you know that one of Pavica’s inventions holds tires together?” Elizabeth looked confused. “Remember how we used to see tire pieces all over the highways?” She waited to see if her new boss was listening. She was. “That doesn’t happen anymore.” Martin chimed in.

“Companies can be fined now if there tires come apart in small sections or pieces,” he commented. 


Anastasia blurted, “Really?”


“Yes, and because of that, fifteen manufacturers pay a royalty for the use of Pavica’s dry ice and pig intestine concoction.”


“Are you serious?” Anastasia was in awe.


“Well, those are just two of the ingredients, I think,” Martin joked.


Elizabeth asked, “How much is the royalty?”


Martin answered without a thought, “Grand total from all of those companies is about $892,000.”

Frank opened his front door. A woman standing there charged past him, into his home. “What the devil are you doing here? You’re trespassing. I did not invite you in,” Frank yelled. He reached for her arm.

“Touch me, and I’ll break you into pieces,” Anastasia threatened. She paced back and forth. Frank watched. “The thugs you sent nearly killed your daughter.” Frank raised his eyebrows and laughed.

“I don’t have a daughter, or a son for that matter. Someone has misled you,” he said. Frank walked back over to the door. “Now get out.”  Anastasia plopped down in a chair and glared at Frank. He pulled out his phone, dialed and waited. 

“I would like to report an intruder.” Anastasia cackled. The phone operator was typing loudly. 

“You’re really ignorant aren’t you?” Anastasia said. “You came late to the funeral.”

“So,” Frank barked. He turned and addressed the woman on the phone. She asked more questions.

“I know more about you than you know,” Anastasia talked loudly as Frank finished the information with the police station. “You were the only man Pavica Coldiron ever loved, period.” Frank turned and glared at the young woman as though he’d been slapped. “Do the math stupid. Elizabeth Falls is 31 years old. Subtract a few months and remember when Pavica left you.” Now she walked out of the open door. “You nearly killed her.” She walked down the steps. “She is at Downtown General.” Anastasia got into her car and sped away. The woman on the phone called out three times before Frank acknowledged her. 

“I’m here, I’m here.” Frank put his hand up to his mouth. He wasn’t listening to the woman on the phone. He looked at the phone. “Dear lady? I’m sorry, cancel my request. I know the woman and she left the premises. I’m sorry. Thank you for your time.” The lady was still talking to Frank when he hung up. 

Frank tried to stay away. But, he felt like metal drawn to a magnet. He arrived at the hospital at about 9:00 pm. He didn’t know if he’d be allowed to see Elizabeth. But, every time he asked he was directed closer to where she was, in the intensive care ward. 

Ann Falls did a double take when he entered the room where her daughter lay in a coma. She tried not to sound hostile. However, she felt she had accomplished a lot that she had not leapt over the bed and strangled the man. “What are you doing here?” She asked. 

“I made a horrible choice,” he said softly. Ann glared at him. “This is my fault.” She didn’t want to ask what he meant. But, her stomach felt queasy. 

“Whoever did this, put her in a coma. She has some broken ribs, and you can see the damage to her face.” Ann stood and brushed Elizabeth’s hair back. “If Anastasia had not come along, they would have killed her.” The two were silent for some time as the machines hissed in rhythm. “If Anastasia had not come along, they would have killed her.” She waited to see if Frank would respond. He didn’t. “She fixed them both.” Now Frank looked at her. “Both of them are here as well. That girl is a master of martial arts.” Ann smiled. “I wish that you had been with them.” Frank had a startled look. 

“Then she would have lost both of her fathers,” he defended. “It wasn’t my idea.” Ann’s eyes grew big.

She blurted, “So, you did know about this?” 

“Yes, I did. They were going to make sure that she would not attend the shareholders meeting tomorrow.” There was silence in the room. Ann wondered why he had come now.

“When did you discover she was your daughter?”

“Six hours ago.” Ann walked to the door and pulled it open.

She asked, “What took you so long?” She left the hospital.

Frank stared at Elizabeth. He laughed to himself. One of the employees that he despised the most happened to be his daughter. “Figures,” he mumbled. Once Anastasia told him, he saw the resemblance. Frank ran a finger over her hand. “Just like your mother’s hand.” Anastasia walked in. Neither spoke. 


Frank asked, “How long has she known?”


Anastasia responded, “The day before you fired her.” Frank closed his eyes. The machines continued to hiss.
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“Thank you for meeting me,” Elizabeth said. Shawn looked around as if the meeting were with a mobster. “I am Elizabeth Falls.” 

“You work with my wife. Does Rachel know that you are meeting with me?” He asked. 

“No,” Elizabeth assured. “Anastasia knows, she set it up, Martin Ahrens knows and that’s it. He is the one that spoke to you.”

“What’s this all about? I was told that some background information was needed on Pavica. I was reluctant, but then the person insisted that they did not want to drag me into court.” Elizabeth looked over at Anastasia.

“The information is more for me than anything.” Shawn stood up to leave. “I did not know until recently, but Pavica was my mother.” Shawn’s look changed.
“That couldn’t be,” he insisted. “She was never with anyone but” – he paused in mid sentence – “What’s your proof? She and I were friends and she never told me any of this.”

“She left for Europe, came to the U.S. with me. She gave me to my mother, her cousin. She raised me as her own daughter. Ann Falls adopted me. Then Pavica went back to Europe.” Shawn knew that she had come to the states and then went back to France.

“So, what do you want from me?”

Elizabeth asked, “I want to know how Frank and Pavica ended up not together.” Shawn stared across the table. “Something happened that seems to be a missing link on Pavica’s side of the story. And, you were her closest friend back then.” 
Shawn asked, “Does Frank know that you are his daughter?”

Elizabeth shook her head. “Not by me. Outside of you and me, Anastasia, Martin, my mother Ann, and my Uncle Allen no one knows.”

Shawn began, “When Pavica was here before going back to Europe she met me for lunch. She seemed rushed. I asked her what happened with Frank. Pavica turned away. I told her that he had called me several times over the months that she had been gone. I think she felt that I had the right to know something. So, she told me what had happened.” Elizabeth nodded. “They had a disagreement, a huge disagreement and she chose to leave.” Elizabeth waited. Shawn said nothing.
“I want the long version,” she said. “I already know they had a disagreement.” Shawn stared at Elizabeth as he leaned back in his chair.
“Okay,” he began. “It was about the dream or dreams. I’ll tell you exactly what she told me.” He got his thoughts together and leaned into the table. “The night Rachel and I were at their condo, she was already asleep when we got there. She told me that she began to dream the moment her head hit the pillow. She said she was out of breath from the beginning. She found herself running and the beat of her heart echoed in her ears. She couldn’t keep the pace, not while carrying the machine. She said that this time there was no place to turn and nothing to hide behind, only darkness in shades of gray. She lost a step and her feet were swept from under her. She watched as the dollhouse-sized machine flew out of her hands. She knew that something about this was unreal. The machine was big enough for her to step into. Pavica said that several people were able to fit. That was how she designed it. When her feet were knocked out from under her, she tumbled across the rough surface. The creatures picked up the machine and fondled it like priceless treasure. She laid still playing possum. She was horrified when one of the creatures sauntered over leaned in and breathed his hot vile breathe. She didn’t move. So, it eased back among the others. They were fascinated with the machine.” He stared again at her. Then, he lit a cigarette and walked to the patio area. “She jumped up and ran. The creatures gave chase instantly. Screeches, howls, and roars rang out. The monster with two legs and claws gained quickly and tackled her. She tried to get up again, but the beast threw himself on her, knocking the wind from her lungs. Something then gently lifted her and she felt a pinch on her arm. She was rolled into a cocoon as like the victim of a spider. Pavica lost strength as the venom took effect. Her fingers slowed to a twitch.” Shawn watched Elizabeth as the story came to an end. “At the last possible second, Pavica mumbled a plea. When she woke up, she remembered everything from the dream. She didn’t have to think about what her decision meant.”
“It sounds like you made it up,” Elizabeth accused. “But, I want to know what happened after the plea.”

“Sorry, I don’t know that.”

 “Elizabeth, my dreams changed my life. I didn’t stubbornly decide not to work with Frank. It was the angel that rescued me from the monsters. The angel asked me why I was running. I said I was always running. He said it was the machine. He said that the demons were excited about its invention. I asked why? The angel said that sons rob their mothers, and fathers abuse their daughters all for selfish reasons. He proclaimed that the machine would serve no good. That man’s selfish desires would be tickled and that once again man would ignore the needs of his brother in need. The machine was a darkness that would cost those that indulge to give up days of their lives for this pleasure. When he said this, I wept because giving this up would be difficult. The angel told me not to be afraid to walk away from the machine. He also said to walk away from Frank if he insisted on continuing the project. I was told to hide my child, a girl, from his knowledge if he refused to abandon the machine. I was promised that God would bless me abundantly. I did as I was told. My life has been a pure blessing.”

“Thank you for your confidence,” Frank started. Someone in the audience shouted, ‘We love you Frank!’ And, the crowd applauded. “Very kind of you to say, thank you very much.” Frank politely bowed and smiled humbly. He waited a minute and went back to his speech.


“I began work on the Transfer Machine over thirty years ago. When I finished it, your support was critical,” he assured. “Now, we have some corrections that have to be made to insure that everyone is safe.” A lady squealed, “Is it true that you loose six days of your life when you transfer?” Frank frowned.


“There have been many rumors,” he responded. “One of the rumors is that Elizabeth Falls is targeting my company, when in fact she owns a good portion of it. And, that’s okay. I was wrong to vilify her. She is a great lady, following a woman that I loved since I was a young man. She and I will work together to make sure that not one person ever again experiences a transfer collapse.” Frank paused a moment to stay on track with his speech. “Our lives and the lives of our loved ones are too precious to loose one child, senior, or homeless individual if we can correct the error. Please be patient. It may take some time to find the problem. Thank you.” Frank was not willing to take any questions. He walked away from the podium, down the stairs and through a curtain. Elizabeth was standing out of sight in the dark backroom.

She took a risk as she whispered, “Dad.” Frank stopped, looked around until he saw her silhouette, and smiled. “We can’t fix that problem.” He nodded and walked over to her.

“I know,” he surrendered. “But, they don’t know that and wouldn’t accept that.”


“And, you’re okay with that?”


“I sadly got what I wanted from the beginning. I proved that I could take something impossible and bring it to life. I was the first to transfer a person from one place to another, and I did it millions of times.” He paused and dropped his head. “It cost me 30 years of your life and the only woman I ever loved.” He looked at Elizabeth. “I don’t want to miss the next 30 years or give away a day because I’m selfish. Pavica was my greatest treasure. I chased after the recognition for a stupid invention and lost my girl. The world thinks I have lost everything. That’s not true. I have gained a daughter from the bride I always wanted. Since she’s gone, you are a wonderful gift. Who could ask for more?” 

The phone rang six times and went to voice mail. Elizabeth wasn’t ready to talk because she knew Anastasia would be mad. When she heard the message, she would be excited. She tried to make it brief, “Hey Anastasia! It’s me. I got your messages. I didn’t call you back because I had so much over the weekend to digest. Now, I can’t wait to talk to you. I want you to come to my new address.” She gave the address in Westchester, Pavica’s address. “I will need your help. So, quit your job. I have something better for you. You’ll be helping me.” Satisfied with her message, Elizabeth hung up the phone, and called her mom.
Her story

As we left the restaurant, Frank’s brother called him. They began to argue. His whole family, mom and dad as well as seven children, were all stressors. They could make a mountain out of the simplest little mound. On top of that, they hated me. I was not an English woman, and I didn’t look white. They had detectives do background checks on me. In my challenges to succeed, I was set back many times by individuals that tried to discredit me. So, when I was financially able, I cleared my name in a way that it would never be an issue again. Wealthy people don’t like it when they can’t get answers. Frank’s family paid a lot to find out nothing about me. Anyway, he finished his call with his brother. Then my phone rang. It was Shawn. A friend I’d known since high school. He missed us at the restaurant. He wanted to come by the condo. I asked Frank. He was silent for too long. We answered at the same time. I said yes, and he said no. Shawn acknowledged my answer. I gave him the address and he hung up. Frank was angry. He started yelling at the car in front of us. Anger was the norm in his family. I rubbed his arm like a massage as we drove in silence. When he seemed calm, I said, “They won’t stay long.” 

